IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2009-CA-00529

UNITED SERVICES AUTOMOBILE ASSOCIATION

APPELLANT/CROSS-APPELLEE

VERSUS

ADMIRAL AND MRS. JAMES LISANBY

APPELLEES/CROSS-APPELLANTS

ON DIRECT APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF JACKSON COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF FOR APPELLANT UNITED SERVICES AUTOMOBILE ASSOCIATION

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

Charles G. Copeland (MBN
W. Shan Thompson (MBN
Janet G. Arnold (MBN
James D. Boone (MBN
Copeland, Cook, Taylor & Bush, P.A.
Post Office Box 6020
Ridgeland, Mississippi 39158
Telephone: (601) 856-7200
Facsimile: (601) 856-8242
Attorneys for Defendant/Appellant/Cross-Appellee United Services Automobile
Association ("USAA")

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- 1. Did the trial court err in denying USAA's motion for JNOV or, alternatively a new trial, regarding the Lisanbys' claim for additional homeowners insurance benefits?
- 2. Did the trial court err in denying USAA's motion for JNOV or, alternatively a new trial, regarding the Lisanbys' claims for emotional distress damages?
 - 3. Did the trial court abuse its discretion in denying a change of venue?
- 4. Did the trial court abuse its discretion in refusing to bifurcate trial of the insurance contract claims from trial of emotional distress claims?
- 5. Did the trial court erroneously grant jury instruction P-16 regarding recovery of emotional distress damages?
- 6. Did the trial court err in awarding attorneys' fees and expenses in the absence of punitive damages or, alternatively, when USAA had an arguable reason for its claims decisions and performed an adequate investigation?
- 7. Did the trial court err in admitting evidence of replacement cost, when the Lisanby property had not been replaced as required by applicable policy language?
- 8. Did the trial court err in denying a mistrial based on improper closing arguments by plaintiffs' counsel and/or based on an inappropriate media interview by plaintiffs' counsel?

INTRODUCTION

The verdict for the Plaintiffs in this case is based on physical impossibility – a hurricane wind that blew harder downstairs than upstairs, destroying the ground floor of a house but leaving the upper floor virtually unscathed. The verdict flatly contradicts the photographs and physical evidence. As a consequence, it cannot stand. Jury verdicts are not given deference when they attempt to

acknowledge the impossible as real. The verdict strongly indicates the jury was influenced by bias, passion, prejudice.

It is undisputed that wind blows harder the higher it is from ground level. The Lisanby house, built in the 1800's, sat only 100 feet from the Gulf of Mexico. It had two stories of living space and a large attic. Exterior walls had 2 x 6 studs. On top of the studs was 1 x 6 diagonal sheathing. On top of the 1 x 6 diagonal sheathing was lathing. Attached to the lathing was 2 ½-inchthick concrete stucco. A glassed-in front porch, second story glassed-in porch, and all east side windows had hurricane shutters. Many other windows on the house had hurricane shutters, as well. A separate garage and separate guest house were also on the property, to the north of the house. The photographs in evidence demonstrate clearly that, during Katrina, the Lisanby house sustained minimal roof damage. Not a single window on the attic level or second floor was broken. The stucco (2½ inch concrete) siding on the second floor was largely intact. The second floor bedrooms and bedroom furniture were undamaged by wind. The difference between damage to the first floor of the house (destroyed) and the second floor (intact) was exposure to storm surge. The first floor was exposed to storm surge. The second floor was not. Just as Admiral Lisanby, a naval engineer, admitted less than a month after Katrina – the house was destroyed by storm surge. USAA is entitled to a JNOV or, at the least, a new trial on the Lisanbys' claim for homeowners insurance contract damages.

The evidence was similarly insufficient to support an award of emotional distress damages.

Damages for emotional distress can only be awarded if an insurance company lacks an arguable reason for its claims decision. USAA clearly had an arguable reason for its decision concerning the amount of wind damage to the Lisanby property. Additionally, attorneys fees and expenses can only

be awarded when punitive damages are proper. Because punitive damages were not proper, the Lisanbys were not entitled to attorneys' fees or expenses.

Events before, during, and immediately after trial of this case demonstrated that bias and prejudice unfairly exists against USAA in Jackson County, and USAA simply cannot obtain a fair trial there. This prejudice was particularly compounded by the prominence of the Lisanbys in the Jackson County community. Admiral Lisanby testified he had a significant role in establishing the Pascagoula shipyard (now Northrup Gruman) and bringing Navy contracts to it, thereby significantly increasing employment in Jackson County. Any new trial should be held in a different venue where the evidence can be viewed without the bias against homeowners insurers that exists on Mississippi's Gulf Coast and where bias in favor of prominent citizens will not affect the case.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. Course of Proceedings and Disposition Below

1

On November 2, 2005, the Lisanbys filed a complaint against United Services Automobile Association ("USAA") for damages relating to their Hurricane Katrina property loss. They later filed an amended complaint. Alleging their property damages were caused by wind, the Lisanbys sought homeowners insurance benefits beyond those already paid by USAA. (R. at 20-85, 285-310.) The Lisanbys also alleged USAA handled their claim in bad faith. They sought emotional distress damages, punitive damages, attorneys' fees, and expenses. (R. *Id.*)¹ USAA denied that it owed any further payments for damage attributable to wind and asserted it properly adjusted the Lisanbys' homeowners insurance claim. USAA paid for those damages covered under the homeowners policy – damages caused solely by wind. The remainder of the Lisanbys' damages were caused either

The case was initially removed to federal court and was later remanded. *Admiral v. United Services Automobile Association*, 2006 WL 3247251 (S.D. Miss. Nov. 8, 2006).

exclusively by storm surge flooding or were concurrently contributed to by storm surge flooding, and were excluded from coverage under the homeowners policy. (R. at 319-42.) Instead, those damages were covered by flood insurance under which the Lisanbys sought and were paid their \$350,000 policy limits. (R. *Id.*)

USAA sought and was denied a change of venue. (RE at Tab 5: R, at 1928-2054, 2475-2637, 4679; T. at 72-80.) USAA also requested that the court bifurcate trial of the Lisanbys' contract claims (i.e., wind versus water claims) from their claims for emotional distress damages and punitive damages. (R. at 1045-49; T. at 769-71.) The trial court granted bifurcation of the punitive damage claim but declined to bifurcate the emotional distress claims. (RE at Tab 6; R. at 4724A-30, 4137-39; T. at 769-71.) After a 10-day trial, the jury returned a verdict awarding the Lisanbys a total of \$909,641 in damages, as follows: \$478,000 for additional wind damage to the structure of the house; \$50,500 for wind damage to the structure of the garage; \$0 for wind damage to the structure of the cottage; \$197,000 for wind damage to the contents of all three buildings; \$0 lost rent for the cottage; \$12,000 additional living expenses occasioned by wind damage; and \$86,000 per Plaintiff for emotional distress. (RE at Tab 4; R. at 3826-28.) The trial judge declined to send the punitive damages claim to the jury. (R. at 3843-45.) After entry of an interim judgment (R. at 3846, 3851), Plaintiffs sought attorneys' fees and expenses, which USAA opposed. (R. at 3861-3911, 3970-4009, 4012-26, 4842-4905, 4923-87.) The trial court entered final judgment on January 8, 2009, awarding the Lisanbys an additional \$302,920.44 in attorneys' fees and \$211,069.47 in expenses, for a total judgment of \$1,423,630.85. (RE at Tab 2; R. at 4920-22.)

USAA timely filed motions for judgment notwithstanding the verdict ("JNOV") or, alternatively, a new trial or remittitur on January 20, 2009. (R. at 4988-91, 4992-5074, 5075-5486.) The trial court entered orders denying those motions on March 13, 2009. (RE at Tab 3; R. at 5563,

5564, 5565.) USAA timely filed its notice of appeal March 27, 2009. (R. at 5568-70.)

II. Statement of Facts

A. The Lisanby Property Before Katrina

The Lisanby property at 1615 Beach Boulevard, Pascagoula, was bounded on the south by Beach Boulevard and on the north by Washington Avenue. (T. at 1080.) A low sea wall separated the Boulevard from the Gulf. The house, built in 1897, sat 100 feet from the Gulf, facing the water. (RE at Tab 13; T. at 695; Exh. D5-101.) Although Admiral Lisanby believed the first elevated floor was at 14.5 feet above sea level, the official engineer's elevation certificate for the property states the first elevated floor was 13 feet above sea level. (T. at 738-39, 894-95.)

The house had two stories of living space and a large attic. (T. at 732-33, 949, 1196.) Exterior walls had 2 x 6 studs. On top of the studs was 1 x 6 diagonal sheathing. (T. at 651.) On top of the 1 x 6 diagonal sheathing was lathing. Attached to the lathing was 2 ½-inch-thick concrete stucco. (T. at 837, 853.) The Lisanbys added on a glassed-in front porch. (T. at 723.) The original exterior wall still existed behind the porch, separating it from the interior of the house. (1427.) There was a small glassed-in second floor porch that sat on top of the first floor porch. (T. at 822; Exh. P-219.) Behind that porch was the exterior stucco wall and a double set of doors leading into the second floor central hall. (RE at Tab 14; Exh. D5-23, D6-82.) The porches, and first and second floor windows on the east side of the house had hurricane shutters. (T. at 703-04; 742-43, 681-82, 702-03.) Some other windows had them too. (T. at 742-43.) The Lisanbys rolled down the shutters before evacuating in advance of Katrina. (T. at 742.)

The separate wood frame shingle-roofed garage sat on a slab and stood north of the house near the back of the property. (T. at 487, 723-24.) The wood frame shingle-roofed guest cottage had a pier and beam foundation and was also at the back of the property. (Exh. D-22, P-80.)

B. Katrina's Impact on the Lisanby Property

After Katrina, numerous photos of the house were taken by Admiral Lisanby, by USAA's adjusters, and by engineers retained by USAA to examine the property. The 225 such photos introduced in evidence at trial clearly demonstrate the major damage to the Lisanby house was to the bottom floor.

At higher levels – the second floor, attic, and roof – damage was minimal. The first floor was gutted by storm surge. (T. at 1386.) The front porch was gone. (RE at Tab 13; Exh. D5-112, P-209, D5-95.) The south and east first floor walls were destroyed. (RE at Tab 13; T. at 1230; Exh. D5-111, D5-112, D5-141). Remaining walls were torqued by storm surge, causing the house to lean. (T. at 1449; Exh. D5-90.) Floor boards floated up on the first floor and formed a huge pile, mixed with furniture, at the back of the central first floor hall. (T. at 836, D5-159, D5-100, D5-103.) First floor brick fireplaces were destroyed. (T. 691-92, 835-36, 868-69; Exh. D5-181, D5-100.) None of the first floor furniture was salvageable. (T. at 888.) On the west and north sides of the first floor, exterior walls remained. (RE at Tab 13; Exh. D5-108, D5-128.) Leeward first floor windows were not broken. (RE at Tab 13; Exh. D5-128, D5-129, D5-149, D4-28.) In sum, the bottom floor was completely ruined.

The second floor stood in stark contrast to the first. Not a single window was broken. (T. at 1442.) The second floor walls remained. There were no flying debris impact marks on those walls. (RE at Tab 14; T. at 1426; Exh. D3-26, D3-28-50, D6-1 at photos 33 and 28.) Admiral Lisanby reported the second floor doors had blown open, letting wind and rain into the second floor central hall. (T. at 744, 825-26.) Wind and rain damage in that hall was minimal. (RE at Tab 14; Exh. D3-26, D3-37, D6-1 at photos 33 and 28, D6-82.) Glass in the french doors that blew open did not break. (RE at Tab 14; T. at 1203; Exh. D6-82.) Wallpaper was damaged and the hall interior

got wet. (T. at 745.) All second floor furniture was intact and salvageable. The Lisanbys moved it to Kentucky and made no claim for it. (T. at 886-87, 1014; Exh. D5-185-196, D5-200-205, D5-210-211.) Cracks in the walls on the second floor in some bedrooms and a bathroom were created when the first floor of the house was torqued by storm surge. (T. at 1448; Exh.P238, P239.)

Damage to roof shingles was minimal. (T. at 1244, D3-60-67.) One piece of ridge cap blew off. (T. at 1209.) None of the substantial attic bracing was displaced. (T. at 1206-08; Exh. D3-52, D3-53, P-208.) None of the blown-in attic insulation was disturbed or wet. (T. at 1209; Exh. D3-52-54, P-211.) None of the attic dormer windows were broken, even though they had no storm shutters and were on the highest part of the house. (T. at 1191; Exh. P-196, D8-4.) Some shingles on the carport blew off in a spot that had previously been patched. (T. at 1450-51; Exh. D3-58, D3-59.) The carport was pulled to the west when the house torqued. (T. at 1449-51; Exh. P-240.)

The cottage floated away in the storm surge. (T. at 539.) The garage was destroyed when storm surge undermined it at the foundation, and the roof floated away with the surge. (T. at 536-39.) Photos show the cottage floating and the garage roof floating in storm surge. (RE at Tab 15; Exh. D13-2, P-168.)

C. Trial Evidence Regarding Causes of Damage to the Lisanby Property

1. Admiral Lisanby's Testimony

2

Before Katrina, Admiral Lisanby and his wife evacuated to Maxwell Air Force base in Montgomery, Alabama. (T. at 742.) They returned to Pascagoula on August 30. (T. at 814-15, 893.)² Admiral Lisanby is a naval engineer with a degree from MIT. (T. at 716-717.) Within 3

With one exception, the property appeared as depicted in the "D5" series of photos taken by Admiral Lisanby. In these photos, the outer wooden doors into the upper second floor hallway are closed. However, the Admiral testified that, when he arrived at the property, the outer wooden doors and inner french doors into the second floor hallway were open. (T. at 744-75, 825-26.)

weeks after Katrina, the Lisanbys gave an interview to the *Times Leader* newspaper in the Admiral's hometown of Princeton, Kentucky. (RE at Tab 18; T. 891-92; Exh. D-19.) In that interview, the Lisanbys admittedly stated:

- "The first floor of the home was gone, ravaged by the Gulf of Mexico's surge;"
- "The water and the Beach Boulevard homes had been separated by the street and a low seawall that offered little protection against the hurricane;"
- "[T]he Gulf surge pushed between 20 and 24 feet of water through the home's first floor;"
- "The water stripped light fixtures off of 12-foot ceilings and reduced half of its fireplaces to rubble."

(RE at Tab 18; Exh. D-19; T. at 893-95.) Apart from this article, the Admiral also independently acknowledged storm surge stripped light fixtures off the 12-foot first floor ceilings. (T. at 895.)³

Admiral Lisanby admitted he made a flood insurance claim, and he wanted it handled quickly. (T. at 919-20, 933-34.) He believed the remainder of the damage to the house (other than that already paid by flood insurance) was caused by a combination of wind and water. (T. at 950.) On numerous occasions, the Admiral represented he found a 5-foot still water line in the house. (T. at 683, 1034-35, 1230, 1292, 1333, 1354, 1360; Exh. D6-1.) He acknowledged that all furniture on the second floor was salvageable. (T. at 888.) The Lisanbys did not make an insurance claim for loss to that furniture. (T. at 949-50.)

2. Gladys Lisanby's Testimony

Mrs. Lisanby professed to have found dry linens, stamps, and cards in two places in the house located just over two feet from floor level. (T. at 960, 969-73.) She maintained this meant there was

When cued to do so by his own counsel on redirect, Admiral Lisanby attempted to retract this testimony. (T. at 952.)

only two feet of water in the house. (T. at 959.) During the insurance claim and discovery in this case, Mrs. Lisanby heard her husband state he had found a 5- foot water line. She never corrected him or mentioned anything about only 2 feet of water. (T. at 1035.)

One of the places Mrs. Lisanby claimed to have found dry linens was a bachelor's cupboard that, before Katrina, sat near the back of the first floor central hall. (T. at 1040; Exh. P-46.) Mrs. Lisanby testified that, after Katrina, she found the cupboard sitting damaged on the south (beach) side of the pile of floorboards in the central hall. (T. at 1040.) The linens were in the top drawer, reportedly dry and ready for use. (T. at 961.) The Lisanbys' disposed of the cupboard, so it was not available for examination. (T. at 1042.) Despite all the photos they took, they did not photograph the cupboard. (T. at 1042.) A photo of the south side of the pile where Mrs. Lisanby claimed to have found the cupboard showed nothing there and nowhere for the cupboard to sit. (RE at Tab 13; T. at 1048-49; Exh. D5-158, D5-159.) She could only suggest there must have been another pile. (T. at 1048-49.) Mrs. Lisanby similarly claimed to have found dry cards and stamps in the top drawer in her desk contiguous with the kitchen counter. (T. at 968-72; Exh. P-106.) Photos showed the top of the counter and desk were missing. Debris had fallen into the drawer from above. (T. at 1037-38.) The debris appeared to have been water soaked, despite Mrs. Lisanby's insistence it was "bone dry." (T. at 1038-40; Exh. D4-26, D4-27.)

3. Meteorological Testimony

The Lisanbys called two meteorologists – Richard Henning and Dr. Keith Blackwell. (T. at 142, 218.) Neither gave any opinion regarding causes of damage to the house. (T. at 183, 218-305.) Both testified to weather conditions and wind speeds in the area of the Lisanby property. Henning testified wind speeds were maximum sustained 100 mph with 124-140 mph gusts. (T. at 155.) Blackwell testified wind speeds were 100-105 mph with 125+ mph gusts. (T. at 237.) Blackwell

testified Katrina had two eyewalls – an inner eyewall with Category 3 hurricane winds and an outer eyewall with Category 2 winds. (T. at 300-01.) Only the lesser Category 2 eyewall passed over Pascagoula. (T. at 301-02.)

4. Butch Loper and George Sholl

The Lisanbys called Butch Loper, Jackson County Director of Emergency Management, and George Sholl, Director of Emergency Communications. (T. at 198, 596.) Both rode out Katrina at the Emergency Operations Center ("EOC") in downtown Pascagoula. (T. at 199-200, 596.) They testified the EOC had two anemometers to measure wind speed. One was on a twenty-foot tower on the roof. The other was on a pole on the side of the building. (T. at 201, 597.) Loper and Sholl stated the anemometers registered gusts of 137 and 140 mph at the time the tower on the EOC roof came down. (T. at 202-03.) A partial layer of tar and gravel blew off the roof, but the building never leaked. (T. at 209-10.) Loper authenticated a video taken at the EOC during Katrina. It showed effects of the wind – pieces of shingle and gravel blowing off roofs but no wind damage to walls or structures of buildings. Storm surge submerged vehicles (RE at Tab 17, Exh. D14-1) and reached a depth of 16.14 feet at the EOC. (T. at 205-06.)⁴

5. Steve Loper

The Lisanbys called Steve Loper, who rode out the storm at home at 1611 Washington Avenue. (T. at 515.) Loper's house faces south and is almost directly behind the Lisanby property. (T. at 544; Exh. P-166, D15-1.) Loper could not see the Lisanbys' house during Katrina. (T. at 535-36.) He could see the Lisanbys' garage and guest cottage. (T. at 536.) Loper testified the wind was

The EOC at 600 Convent Avenue in downtown Pascagoula is nearly 2 miles inland from the location of the Lisanby house on Beach Boulevard.

strong enough to blow his pickup truck across his driveway and bury the front end in mud. (T. at 519.) He testified wind blew a large beam through the front window of his house. (T. at 524-25.)⁵ After water began coming into his house, Loper went to the second floor den, where he had a view toward the Lisanby property from south-facing windows. (T. at 530.) When there was about 6 inches to 1 foot of surge at the Lisanby garage it imploded, and the roof fell to the ground. Loper believed wind did this. (T. at 536.) As the storm surge got deeper, the garage roof floated away and was sawed in half by a tree due to the strength of the surge. (RE at Tab 15; T. at 537-38; Exh. D13-2.) Loper watched the entire cottage literally float down the Lisanbys' driveway, turn left onto Washington Avenue, and come apart. (RE at Tab 15; T. at 539; Exh. P-168, D13-2.)

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