IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2009-CA-00529

UNITED SERVICES AUTOMOBILE ASSOCIATION

APPELLANT/CROSS-APPELLEE

VERSUS

ADMIRAL AND MRS. JAMES LISANBY

APPELLEES/CROSS-APPELLANTS

ON DIRECT APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF JACKSON COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF FOR APPELLEES/CROSS-APPELLANTS ADMIRAL AND MRS. JAMES LISANBY

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

Don Barrett (MBN David McMullan, Jr. (MB) Barrett Law Office, P.A. Post Office Box 987 Lexington, MS 39095 Telephone: (662) 834-2376 Facsimile: (662) 834-2628

Attorneys for Plaintiffs/Appellees/Cross-Appellants Admiral and Mrs. James Lisanby

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2009-CA-00529

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The record in this case reflects eyewitness testimony, physical evidence and

expert testimony that wind effectively destroyed the Lisanby home before water rose into it. The verdict, coming after a vigorously contested ten day trial, was rendered by a jury that was picked by a thorough *vior dire*. The decision has no earmarks of a runaway verdict, but rather is supported by substantial record evidence and testimony, including that of USAA's own witnesses.

The trial court, applying clear Mississippi law, properly instructed the jury to consider whether USAA negligently adjusted and denied the claim. The verdict was justified in light of overwhelming evidence of wind damage that USAA ignored. USAA's negligent investigation in adjusting the claim warranted additional compensatory damages for emotional distress and attorneys' fees.

The only errors warranting action by this court were the trial court's *sua sponte* order denying the Lisanbys the opportunity to present the issue of punitive damages to the jury and the trial court's failure to apply the *McKee* factors, capping attorneys' fees at one-third of the verdict.

ARGUMENT

I. Applicable Standards of Review

Although review of a trial court's denial of a JNOV motion is *de novo*, this Court will affirm the denial where there is "substantial evidence to support the verdict." *United States Fidelity and Guaranty Co. of Mississippi v. Martin*, 998 So.2d 956, 964 (Miss. 2008), "Substantial evidence" is "information of such quality and weight that reasonable and fair-minded jurors in the exercise of impartial judgment might have reached different conclusions." *Id.*

In reviewing a trial court's denial of JNOV this Court must "consider the

evidence in the light most favorable to the Appellee, giving that party the benefit of all favorable inferences that may be drawn from the evidence." *Martin*, 998 So. 2d. 964, quoting *Spotlite Skating Rink, Inc. v. Barnes*, 988 So.2d 364, 368 (Miss. 2008) (other citations omitted). "The denial of a JNOV will only be reversed if 'the evidence, as applied to the elements of [the] parties' case is either so undisputable, or so deficient, that the necessity of trial of fact has been obviated." *Id.*, See also *White v. Stewman*, 932 So.2d 27, 32 (Miss. 2006).

Review of a trial court's denial of a Motion for a New Trial is, of course, guided by a lower standard of review than a JNOV. *Taggart v. State*, 957 So.2d 981, 987 (Miss. 2007), *Sheffield v. State*, 749 So.2d 1231, 1271 (Miss. 1999). A Motion for New Trial "simply challenges the weight of the evidence" and this Court will reverse only where the trial court has abused its discretion. *Id.* This Court "will not order a new trial unless convinced that the verdict is so contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence that, to allow it to stand, would be to sanction an unconscionable injustice." *Id.*, citing *Sheffield*, 749 So.2d.1271 Mere factual disputes "are properly resolved by a jury and do not mandate a new trial." *Id.*

II. The Record Reflects Overwhelming Evidence of Wind Damage to the Lisanby Home

USAA's brief fails to demonstrate an absence of substantial evidence supporting the verdict. The record contains in excess of 200 photographs of the Lisanby property, before and after the hurricane. These photographs were the subjects of conflicting expert testimony. The Lisanbys' experts testified that the physical evidence, including the photographs, showed damages caused by wind that were uncompensated by USAA. USAA's own witness Gary Taylor admitted that the cause of the damages was not clear,

requiring him to hire an engineer. In this wind-water dispute, Taylor's testimony alone satisfies the standard to affirm the verdict.

USAA's discussion of <u>some</u> of the 200 plus photographs and <u>some</u> of the testimony amounts to argument concerning the relative weight of the evidence. Juries properly weigh conflicting evidence every day in this state.

In arguing "physical impossibility," USAA curiously analogizes this case to Blossman Gas, Inc. v. Shelter Mut. Gen. Ins., Co. 920 So. 2d 422 (Miss. 2006). USAA, however, fails to account for the huge difference in facts. In Blossman the plaintiff's theory of liability was clearly contradicted by singular physical evidence. While Blossman illustrates the "physical impossibility" label, the label simply does not fit here.

In *Blossman* Shelter and Blossman asserted competing theories as to the cause of a house fire. Blossman's theory was virtually unsupported by any physical or other evidence. Shelter presented uncontradicted evidence concerning the placement of gas lines which were alleged to have caused the explosion and fire.

Shelter presented the following facts to demonstrate that Blossman was responsible for the destruction:

- (1) The gas fireplaces installed by Blossman were the only gas appliances in the part of the house that was destroyed;
- (2) The entire gas system was installed by Blossman;
- (3) Blossman employees installed the fireplaces without reading instructions;
- (4) Blossman connected the fireplaces improperly with two connectors and a sealant;
- (5) Blossman employees pieced together two pipes together improperly;

- (6) Blossman did not do a leak check on the fireplace;
- (7) The home was vacant at the time of the explosion and all other appliances were shut off;
- (8) A witness heard the explosion, which sounded like thunder;
- (9) A witness observed flames in the area of one of the gas fireplaces;
- (10) Glass blown out from the home showed that there had been an explosion:
- (11) Concrete in the fireplace showed the presence of intense heat.

Blossman's experts did not cite <u>any</u> specific evidence to support their theory that Blossman had properly installed the fireplaces. Blossman's defense of an "unknown origin and cause of the fire" was supported by no "specific explanation of why the fire occurred or where it originated." 920 So. 2d. 425.

Affirming the trial court's granting of Shelter's motion for a new trial, this Court also noted clear evidence of jury bias and prejudice. Following the verdict several members of the jury "approached and hugged counsel for Blossman and Blossman's corporate representative." *Id.*

In vivid contrast to *Blossman*, the Lisanbys and their experts presented extensive, substantial evidence and testimony that was consistent with and supported the verdict. This case involves no mystery as to the cause of destruction of the Lisanby home. Unlike the experts in *Blossman*, the Lisanbys' experts testified with precision as to the bases for their conclusions regarding the damages caused by wind. Unlike *Blossman's* experts, the Lisanbys' experts specifically explained the cause of destruction.

Wrestling to make the "physical impossibility" label fit, USAA twists the record, especially the testimony of Dr. Sinno. USAA suggests that Dr. Sinno claimed that there

was no water damage. The record reflects that this is untrue.

Dr. Sinno testified that wind essentially ruined the Lisanby home prior to the arrival of any water. Dr. Sinno testified that wind was the proximate cause of the substantial destruction of the Lisanby home. Dr. Sinno testified that water damaged the Lisanby property, but only after wind had damaged most of the home. On extensive cross-examination, Dr. Sinno explained the bases for his conclusions concerning wind versus water damage.

USAA's essential assertion, that Dr. Sinno's testimony is at odds with "physical reality" is actually a disagreement, albeit predictable, between experts. The jury properly weighed the competing expert opinions.

Neither Dr. Sinno nor any other witness called by the Lisanbys suggested that wind only blew through the first story of the Lisanby home. The jury heard testimony from Dr. Sinno concerning the forces and the resulting destruction that occurred on the first floor and also on the second floor.

Colonel Richard Henning testified that the Lisanby home was subjected to wind gusts in excess of 140 miles per hour, well before any water would have reached the Lisanby home.

Dr. Keith Blackwell testified that the Lisanby home was subjected to three second gusts in excess of 125 miles per hour, long before water arrived.

Butch Loper testified that there were wind gusts of 140 miles per hour in the area in the early morning. According to Loper there were winds in excess of 125 miles per hour at 8:00a.m., well before any water arrived at the Lisanby home.

Using a narrow view of the record, USAA focuses on photographs taken by Jim

and Rebecca Treadway, neighbors of the Lisanbys. The photographs and video do not depict the sequence of events at the Lisanby home or show what effect wind had on the Lisanby home prior to water arriving.

The testimony of the Treadways actually supported the Lisanbys' case. The Treadways testified that they only had six to seven inches of water by 8:30 a.m. Their home, built on a slab, and not three and a half feet above ground like the Lisanby home, was at 11 feet 3 inches. With six to seven inches of water, it is clear that there was no water in the Lisanby home at 8:30 a.m.

USAA notes that the Lisanby home was situated near the Gulf of Mexico. Of course: that is where the two feet of water came from and also where the highest and most damaging winds occurred. (T. at 203)

USAA argues that Admiral Lisanby "admitted the house was damaged by Katrina storm surge." Admiral Lisanby was not present in the home at the time of the storm and had no expertise to determine the cause of damage. USAA seized on this elderly gentleman's off-hand comment to abdicate its own duty to provide him with an adequate and thorough investigation.

USAA claims that the photographs show that the first floor of the house was destroyed and the second floor "remained intact." Dr. Sinno, using these same photographs, showed and explained the extensive damage to the whole house. According to Dr. Sinno, there was substantial damage to the upper level of the house, caused by the very same wind that caused damage on the first floor. According to Dr. Sinno, wind caused the substantial destruction of the structural integrity of the home, rendering it unsafe and useless. Dr. Sinno noted that wind created gaps in the walls on the second

floor and that, but for the strength of the framing supporting the roof, the second floor would have been even more damaged.

USAA challenges the proof regarding the Lisanbys' claims for contents. These challenges are likewise challenges of the relative weight of the testimony and evidence. Dr. Sinno, using photographs of the property, including the interior, testified that wind caused the first floor damage, "early in the game" and caused extensive destruction of the interior, including contents. Dr. Sinno's testimony, coupled with the photographs and testimony from Admiral and Mrs. Lisanby, was more than sufficient to support the verdict for damages for contents.

III. The Trial Court Properly Admitted Evidence of Damages

A. <u>Actual Cash Value/Replacement Cost Evidence was Properly Admitted</u>

USAA contends that the trial court improperly admitted evidence of replacement cost. Although Admiral and Mrs. Lisanby were unable to rebuild their home, due to USAA's failure to properly pay their claim, this evidence was properly admitted. As admitted by USAA in its brief, it is universal practice in the industry to measure actual cash value by replacement cost, less depreciation. See *Penthouse Owners Association, Inc. v. Certain Underwriters at Lloyds* 2009 WL 94835 (S.D. Miss. Jan. 13, 2009.) Admiral Lisanby testified that the actual cash value of all his property immediately before Katrina was \$2,000,000 and that deducting the real estate value of \$400,000, the total actual cash value was \$1,600,000. (T. at 734-735) USAA stipulated the replacement cost value of the Lisanby home was \$1,577,324, the garage was \$45,463 and the guest house was \$88,746. (T. 792-793) Admiral Lisanby testified the replacement cost value of all this property was \$1,700,000. (T. 754) Admiral Lisanby testified concerning the

excellent condition of the home. This testimony, along with the photographs, gave the jury evidence of any depreciation. Furthermore, USAA submitted jury instruction D-10, refused by the trial court, which described the measure of dwelling damages in terms of "fair market value." Fair market value proof was put on by the Lisanbys.

B. Additional Living Expenses Were Properly Awarded

Additional living expenses were properly awarded. USAA's policy provided that additional living expenses living expenses were owed if the Lisanbys' house was rendered uninhabitable by a covered peril. The substantial and overwhelming proof supported the verdict that there was a covered loss, entitling the Lisanbys to additional living expenses.

C. <u>The Trial Court Properly Refused to Bifurcate the Lisanbys'</u> <u>Emotional Distress Claims</u>

The trial court's granting of the jury instructions and allowing consideration of emotional distress damages was consistent with well settled law. See *Universal Life Ins.*Co. v. Veasley, 610 So 2d 290 (Miss. 1992) and United American Ins. Co. v. Merrill, 978

So. 2d 613 (Miss. 2007). Veasley and Merrill clearly hold that emotional distress damages may be awarded as additional compensatory damages and are properly considered in the compensatory phase of the trial. USAA's argument in this regard is unsupported in the case law.

USAA cites *Hartford Underwriters Ins. Co. v. Williams*, 936 So. 2d 888 (Miss. 2006) arguing that emotional distress claims must be bifurcated and made part of the second phase of trial. The *Merrill* court, however, considered *Hartford v. Williams* and rejected this very argument. Citing *Veasley*, the court noted that it had moved away from the requirement of proof of a "separate independent tort" to allow for emotional distress

and mental anguish damages. Consistent with this Court's ruling, the trial court properly allowed the instruction of the jury to consider emotional distress damages in the first phase.

D. The Trial Court Properly Submitted The Issue Of Attorneys Fees As An Element Of Veasley Damages

Attorneys' fees and expenses, like emotional distress damages, are recoverable in a successful breach of contract action against an insurance company where a jury finds negligence. *Veasley*, 610 So.2d at 295 ("[a]dditional inconvenience and expense, attorneys fees and the like should be expected in an effort to have the oversight corrected....It is no more than just that the injured party be compensated for these injuries.") *Merrill*, 978 So.2d at 630 (quoting *Veasley* with approval); *Essinger v. Liberty Mut. Fire Ins. Co.*, 2008 WL 2631047, at*1(5th Cir. July 7, 2008) ("Mississippi law recognizes that negligent conduct of the insurance company can justify recovery of, for example, attorneys' fees"); *Simpson v. Economy Premier Assur. Co.*, 2006 WL 2590620 at *2(N.D. Miss. Sept. 8, 2006) (the Mississippi Supreme Court "has sanctioned the application of a separate tier of damages (often referred to as *Veasley* damages) which may include attorneys' fees and emotional distress damages...").

The jury found that USAA breached its duty to promptly, fairly, fully and thoroughly investigate the Lisanby claim and that this failure caused the denial of their valid claim (See Jury Instruction No. P.16). Consequently, attorneys' fees and expenses were payable as an element of compensatory damages.

USAA cites *In Re: Guardianship of Duckett* 2008 WL 2372830 (Miss. 2008) to suggest that attorneys' fees cannot be allowed in the absence of punitive damages. *Duckett*, however, was not an insurance case and did not involve *Veasley* damages. In

Duckett, the defendant bank was found liable for damages for unauthorized withdrawal of guardianship funds and the court awarded attorneys' fees. This Court reversed, and on the issue of attorneys' fees, found that there was no contract between the plaintiffs and the bank, nor any applicable statute for the award of attorney's fees.

Duckett merely illustrates the application of the general American rule regarding attorneys' fees. Likewise Tupelo Redevelopment Agency v. Gray Corp. Inc., 972 So. 2d 495 (Miss. 2007) is not an insurance case and did not address Veasley damages.

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